IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,183

DAVID CERF,	:	
Appellant,	:	
vs.	:	INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
STATE OF FLORIDA at the direction of Jon I. Gordon, Circuit Judge, pursuant to	:	FILED
Integration Rule 11.14, Appellee.	:	NOV 9 1983
	:	SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT
	:	Chief Deputy Cierts

APPEAL FROM THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CASE NO. 83-4768 (Retired Circuit Judge Harold Vann)

THIS IS AN APPEAL FROM A RECOMMENDATION IN A RULE 11.14 PROCEEDING FOR PUBLIC REPRIMAND

ORIGINAL

DAVID F. CERF, JR. Attorney for Appellant Suite 1011 City National Bank Bldg. 25 W. Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130

Telephone(305)374-1234

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent has prepared an Appendix to Brief of Appellant which includes copies of all of the pertinent documents in the lower court concerning the statement of the case. This had to be done because the clerk of the lower court sent a record of proceedings to this Court without any index for same before the time for appeal had been reached. The symbol "A" will be used to indicate any reference to matters in the Appendix. The parties will be referred to as they were in the lower court.

This action was commenced in the lower court when the Dade County State Attorney's office filed a Motion to Discipline Attorney in the lower court. (A 1-5). The Respondent filed an answer. (A-6). The Respondent filed a motion to dismiss. (A 7-9). The Respondent filed a motion to strike. (A 10-17). The Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment. (A 18-21).

The Respondent filed a demand for discovery. (A 22-24). The Respondent filed notice of taking depositions. (A-25). The Respondent filed a motion for sanctions for failure to make discovery. (A 26-29). The lower court denied the motion for sanctions. (A-30). The lower court denied all of Respondent's motions and held a hearing. (Transcript "T" 1-517). Thereafter the lower court filed a report recommending a public reprimand (A 31-36) and this appeal was filed. (A-37).

з.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Respondent will not submit a statement of the facts in this section because of the nature of the argument in this brief and the fact that the record consists of a dissolution trial, a mandamus action concerning that trial and a disciplinary action concerning the mandamus action. A combined statement of facts would only be confusing and lengthy. The facts will therefore be set forth in the argument section of the brief for clarity and brevity.

The symbol "A" will be used to refer to the Appendix to Brief which will be filed separately. The symbol "T" will be used to refer to the transcript of testimony which the clerk of the lower court has been directed to send to this Court and the exhibits will be referred to using the symbol "E".

ARGUMENT ONE

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE RESPONDENT'S PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS

This action was commenced with the filing of a five (5) page unsworn Motion to Discipline Attorney Under Rule 11.14. (A 1-5). The Respondent filed several pre-trial motions which the lower court denied. The Respondent will discuss these motions separately in the following sections of this argument.

MOTION TO DISMISS

The Respondent's Motion to Dismiss is found at A 7-9. In it, the Respondent raised several arguments which will be discussed in a different order than they appear in the motion.

The Respondent is mainly offended by the fact that Florida Bar Intergration Rule 11. 14 provides that a judge of the District Court of Appeal<u>or</u> a Circuit Judge may direct the State Attorney to file a motion to discipline an attorney and Circuit Judge Jon Gordon, through his appellate attorney and through his own exparte letter to the District Court, asked the District Court to discipline the Respondent, the District Court did not discipline the Respondent and disgruntled Judge Gordon then tried to have a Circuit Judge do what the District Court would not do.

Judge Jon Gordon's "McCain" like ex-parte letter is found at A-14. Judge Gordon stated that he was afraid to file his own motion to strike the Respondent's appellate pleadings and to have the District Court discipline the Respondent because he was afraid of the adverse reaction if his own motion was denied. Judge Gordon, therefore suggested that the District Court strike the Respondent's appellate pleadings and discipline the Respondent on the District Court's own motion. The District Court did strike two paragraphs out of about one hundred filed by the Respondent <u>but did not</u> <u>discipline the Respondent in any way</u> for what he said about Judge Gordon.

This was also testified to by Judge Gordon on T-107:

"... I wrote it to the Chief Judge to bring it to his attention, a disciplinary matter."

Judge Gordon also testified that the District Court of Appeal told him that he was "too sensitive" on T-118:

"... The question was, was I aware this letter had been circulated to other judges in the Third District. I want to share with the Court that I did receive a communication from Judge Jorgenson. He felt that I was being too sensitive..."

Judge Gordon did not accept the wisdom of the District Court of Appeal and sought a friendlier forum from another Circuit Judge. His fellow trial court judge was more sympathetic and did what the District Court would not do. This is simply not permissible under the wording of Rule 11.14.

Rule 11.14 provides that a judge of the District Court or a Circuit Judge may direct the State Attorney to file a motion to discipline an attorney. The use of the work "or" in a statute or rule means that there is a choice between alternatives. See Vol. 30 Fla. Jur. Statutes §100.

Judge Gordon chose to pursue the Respondent in the District Court of Appeal and he should have honored what the District Court did. The District Court is also the best judge of what is or what is not punishable before the court of appeal. It is also familiar with the record of the appellate attorney's actions in other appeals and the trial court's actions in other appeals.

This Court should not put its stamp of approval on this personal vendetta by a trial court judge against an attorney skilled enough to obtain a mandamus Order to Show Cause against his abuse of judicial power. All of Judge Gordon's complaints against the Respondent arose after he was served with the Order to Show Cause. (A 15-16).

The Respondent's Motion to Dismiss also raised the issue as to the failure of the State Attorney to allege that a judge had directed the filing of the motion to discipline as required by Rule 11.14. The motion to discipline was also styled State of Florida ex rel. without naming the complaining judge. This was just some more of Judge Gordon's wanting to keep his name out of any attempt to discipline the Respondent so he would not be embarrassed if he failed. He was and is the only judge that complained about the Respondent. (T 28-29).

The motion to dismiss also raised the issue that the motion to discipline did not allege any specific charge against the Respondent or any charge that was related to the alleged misbehavior. The Respondent was charged with and found guilty of a violation of EC 1-5 and DR 1-102 (5). These are "garbage can" sections of the Code and only concern minor infractions of the law such as failure to file income tax returns, spitting on the sidewalk, etc. The Respondent was not charged with any "minor violation" of the law. He was charged with criticizing a judge. This is covered by EC 8-6 and DR 8-102 <u>but</u> the Respondent was not charged with violating them.

It would serve no useful purpose to reiterate the 2 plus 2 equals 4 argument about procedural due process and equal protection of the law so the Respondent will adopt and incorporate these arguments as set forth in his motion on pages A 7-9 into this brief.

FOR these reasons the Respondent submits that the lower court erred in denying his motion to dismiss and this Court should reverse the lower court and direct it to grant the motion to dismiss or such other relief as this Court deems appropriate under the circumstances.

MOTION TO STRIKE

The Respondent's Motion to Strike is found at A 10-17. This was a verified motion to strike as sham pleading pursuant to Civil Procedure Rule 1.150. The purpose of this motion is to try to avoid the expense of an unnecessary hearing such as was held in this action.

The State Attorney did not traverse or oppose the motion to strike in the lower court except to state that since Rule 11.14 did not expressly provide for motions that none were allowed. (T-10). The Respondent suggest that the motion to strike is allowed in civil and criminal proceedings and should also be permitted in disciplinary proceedings. See Integration Rule 11.06(3) applying the rules of civil procedure and discovery to trials before a referee. There should be a way to prevent a disgruntled judge from dragging an attorney through court on a baseless or meritless charge.

FOR these reasons, the lower court erred in denying the motion to strike and this Court should reverse the lower court and direct it to grant the motion to strike or such other relief as is appropriate.

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment is found at A 18-21. The motion was supported by an affidavit and noticed for hearing at least 20 days before the final hearing. (A-21). The State Attorney did not file any counter-affidavits and the lower court should have granted the motion.

FOR these reasons the lower court erred in denying the motion for summary judgment and this Court should reverse the lower court and direct it to grant the summary judgment or such other relief as is appropriate.

MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

The Respondents demand for discovery, notice of taking depositions and motion for sanctions for failure to make discovery are found at A 22-29. The Defendant sought discovery to prepare for the final hearing. The State Attorney contended that Rule 11.14 was silent about discovery so there was none. (T 10-12). The Respondent would adopt and incorporate by reference its argument in the Court below that discovery is permitted in a disciplinary proceeding. The result of not having discovery in a Rule 11.14 is to turn it into a Star Chamber proceeding where a disgruntled judge can attack an attorney like shooting fish in a barrel. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Hollingsworth</u> 376 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1979); 7 Am. Jur. 2d Attorneys at Law §93; Anno. 94 A.L.R.2d 1328; <u>Brotsky v. State Bar of California</u>, 368 P.2d 697; Intergration Rule 11.06(3).

FOR these reasons the Respondent submits that the lower court erred in denying his motions for sanctions for failure to make discovery and this Court should reverse the lower court and direct that the motion be granted or such other relief as is appropriate.

JURY TRIAL

The Respondent demanded jury trial in this action. (A-6). The lower court denied the demand. (T 338-339). It is fundamental that an accused is entitled to a jury of his peers. Here the accuser got a jury of his peers. This is not fair or just.

ARGUMENT TWO

THE LOWER COURT'S JUDGMENT WAS ERRONFOUS, UNLAWFUL, UNJUSTIFIED AND UNFAIR

The lower court's Judgment and Report of Disciplinary Matter is found at A 31-36. The Integration Rules suggest a standard of review as to whether or not the lower court's judgment is erroneous, unlawful and unjustified. Rule 11.09(3)(e).

The Respondent would first discuss the form and language of the lower court's judgment and report. The report totally fails to state that the Respondent obtained a mandamus order to show cause directed against Judge Jon Gordon on October 19, 1982. (A 15-16). All of Judge Gordon's complaints come after the order to show cause was served on him. The first complaint against the Respondent is on date November 4, 1982. (T-75). The report totally fails to state that Judge Jon Gordon threatened the Respondent with contempt if he did not drop his mandamus action, that the Respondent refused to be intimidated and Judge Gordon later recused himself. (A-17). The report totally fails to state that Judge Jon Gordon's appellate attorney then filed a copy of his recusal in the appellate court and stated that no writ of mandamus could be issued against him because he was no longer the judge. (A-40 ¶8).

The report does state on pages 2 and 5 of same (A 32 and 35) that the Respondent uses Mandamus to "force" Judge Gordon and other trial court judges to rule as the Respondent desires. This is not

true and cannot be true. The Respondent does not make the law and can't force any judge to rule as he desires the law to be. The law is fixed and the only way that Mandamus will issue is if the trial court judge does not follow the law. Mandamus is an ancient extraordinary remedy to cure a failure of justice. This Court and other appellate courts well know that a trial judge must really do something clearly wrong before mandamus will issue. The lower court's statements that the Respondent "forces" trial judges to rule his way shows that the lower court erred in his interpertation of what Mandamus is and what the Respondent was trying to accomplish with it. The only thing that the Respondent could do is ask the court of appeal to make Judge Jon Gordon obey the law. This is exactly what he did and if he is to be punished for this then any trial court tyrant can prevent any interference with his judicial despotism.

The lower court judge also ignored the testimony presented by Mrs. Pat Place who is the wife of the Reverend Ted Place of the Faith Bible Church in Miami, Florida. (T 186-202). Pat Place testified that she was there when Judge Jon Gordon first took the child away from its mother and Judge Gordon told her that the child would be returned to its mother when she got out of the hospital and her doctor said it was o.k. for her to have the child back. (T-194). She also testified that the one hundred persons in her church prayer group did not understand why Judge Gordon did not "follow through on what he said he would do". (T 199-200).

The lower court judge also turned a deaf ear to the testimony of Reverend Thedford Johnson except to state that he was a black minister who thought all politicians were crooked. (A-36). This is certainly not what Reverend Johnson stated. The record before this Court reveals that Reverend Johnson's testimony was that black people suspect something is wrong when they learn money is being paid and that the hypothetical concerning Judge Gordon put to the Reverend by Judge Vann would indicate something was irregular. (T-209). Reverend Johnson stated that he had been a minister in the Overtown Riot area for 41 years and that the Respondent was one of the few white people trusted by the blacks and that knew how they thought about things.

In other words, Judge Vann ignored everything bad about Judge Gordon and everything good about the Respondent. This is the only way that the could reach a conclusion that would help his fellow trial court judge. He also prevented any discovery as to the truth.

The Respondent could go on and on about the record in this case but he has previously argued it to the Third District Court of Appeal and as a result of their review of the record he was not disciplined by the court of appeal in any way. See A 44-80.

The Respondent would point out that it was not he who raised the issue of Judge Gordon's appointment of a Guardian ad Litem in the court of appeal. The court appointed \$1,000.00 in advance G.A.L. filed a motion to intervene in the mandamus proceedings to raise the issue as to whether or not Judge Gordon acted properly. (A 44-45).

The entire argument of the Respondent in the court of appeal is to be found at pages 47-80 of the Appendix. The only way that any of this argument can be found to be offensive is for parts of it to be taken out of context as it was done in the motion to discipline attorney and the lower court's judgment and report to support the public reprimand.

The entire record shows that the Respondent was more than fair with Judge Gordon. It should be kept in mind that this entire record was created byJudge Gordon, who:

- Told Pat Place that he would return the child to its mother when she was released from the hospital.
- 2. Did not return the child to its mother but did give her a legal services burden of at least \$1,000.00 up front for the services of a Guardian ad Litem from Homestead, Florida where the judge had received \$1,000.00 in political contributions. (Respondent's Exhibit "P".
- Refused to let the Respondent take the Guardian ad Litem's deposition.
- 4. Denied routine motions that would have reduced the amount of money that the mother would have to pay to the Guardian ad Litem such as motion to refer the case to H.R.S. for a home study, motion to refer the parites to conciliation, motion to refer the parties to the General Master and motion to transfer the case to the Juvenile Court so a pro bono Guardian ad Litem could be appointed.

- 5. Recused himself after the Respondent filed a motion for the Guardian ad Litem to produce records of any political contributions and other court appointments.
- Recused himself after the Respondent was not intimidated by his threat of contempt if the Mandamus action was not dropped.

This is also the same Judge Gordon who bullied the Mayor of the City of South Miami, Florida for not filing a written motion for a continuance of an uncontested divorce when he had to be out of town on City business. (A 83-85). Thereafter this same judge held his own criminal contempt hearing for Mayor Block and put him in jail for his crime. (A 86-88). Thereafter, Mayor Block would, of course, have this judge recuse himself from any case that he was counsel in. (A 89,91). In the meantime this judge would try to buy off Mayor Block and try to regain his favor by appointing Mayor Block as Guardian Ad Litem in several cases! (A 90,92).

It should be noted that Mayor Block's opposing counsel in the criminal contempt fiasco was Sandor Genet who was counsel of record for the mother in this case until shortly after Mayor Block was put in jail. (Respondent's Exhibit "I").

The Respondent is not proud of the fact that he stood up to this judicial bully but he is also not ashamed of what he did or wrote about this particular judge. Hopefully this will permit Judge Gordon to see the Fourth Man in the Fire. Daniel 3:25.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and citation of authorities the Respondent submits that the beloved and learned Retired Judge Harold Vann erred in finding the Respondent guilty of any unethical behavior and recommending a public reprimand. This Court should reverse Judge Vann, quash his ruling or whatever is proper under the circumstances.