IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 64,183

DAVID CERF,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA.

IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

DEC 3 1983

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JANET RENO State Attorney for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida

IRA N. LOEWY Assistant State Attorney 1351 Northwest 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 547-7935

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

ARGUMENT

Ī

THE RESPONDENT/APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY REVERSIBLE ERROR BASED UPON THE CIRCUIT JUDGE'S DENIALS OF HIS PRETRIAL MOTIONS.

At the outset, the Petitioner wishes to place the Respondent's contentions in their proper context by emphasizing that the Motion to Discipline the Respondent and the lower court's judgment finding the Respondent guilty of the charged disciplinary violations were primarily predicated upon statements made by the Respondent in pleadings filed in the Third District Court of Appeal on December 27, 1982 (A. 50), January 12, 1983 (A. 60-62) and January 25, 1983 (A. 80), statements which the Respondent later admitted he had made with knowledge that they were false or with reckless disregard of whether they were false or not (T. 389-393, 444). (1) In essence, there are no factual disputes with regard to the gravamen of the disciplinary violations charged against the Respondent. It is undisputed that in these pleadings he falsely accused Judge Gordon of acts of political corruption without any factual support for his allegations. In light of these facts, the Petitioner submits

⁽¹⁾ Though not directly pertinent to bar disciplinary proceedings, the Petitioner notes that this is the standard by which a public official may prove "actual malice" so as to justify an award of damages in a libel action. See e.g. New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964); Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Ane, 423 So.2d 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

that the Respondent's pretrial motions were properly denied and that, in any event, he has failed to demonstrate any basis for this Court to reverse the final judgment.

MOTION TO DISMISS

The primary contention advanced by the Respondent is that Judge Gordon was somehow barred from referring this matter to the State Attorney for the purpose of filing disciplinary proceedings pursuant to Fla.Bar.Integr.Rule, art. XI, Rule 11.14 (hereinafter referred to simply as Rule 11.14), because the District Court of Appeal had declined to take similar action in response to Judge Gordon's letter of December 6, 1982. Unfortunately for the Respondent, his argument is fatally flawed, both legally and factually.

Factually, it must be noted that at the time Judge
Gordon wrote his letter to the District Court of Appeal
and was orally told by Judge Jorgenson that he was being "too
sensitive", the Respondent had not yet falsely accused Judge Gordon
of making political appointments for the purpose of extorting
indirect campaign contributions from litigants. These scurrilous
and totally false accusations were first made by the Respondent
in his Petition for Rehearing filed on December 22, 1982 (A. 4750) and in his response to the motion to strike and second
Petition for Rehearing, filed on January 12, 1983 (A. 57-64) and
January 26, 1983 (A. 78-81) respectively. The fact that the
District Court chose not to publicly admonish the Respondent
for making inappropriate comments reflecting upon the character

and integrity of Judge Gordon in his earlier pleading, see City of Hollywood v. Zinkel, 283 So.2d 581 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), cannot serve to excuse his subsequent conduct.

It must be noted that the Judges of the District Court of Appeal obviously did not feel that they were being "to sensitive" when, on the Court's own motion, they struck paragraphs ten and eleven of the Respondent's Petition for Rehearing "as being impertinent and scandalous" (A. 77) or when they struck the entire Petition for Rehearing which had been filed by the Respondent on January 26, 1983 (A. 82). Apparently, the Respondent believes that the fact the District Court of Appeal declined to take more drastic action against him somehow barred the Circuit Court from acting. Such is not the law in this State.

The alternative means by which an attorney in this State may be disciplined were recently reiterated by this Court in Burns v. Huffstetler, 433 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1983) at 965:

There are three alternative methods for the disciplining of attorneys, and the first two procedures derive directly from this Court's delegation of its power to regulate the practice of law in Florida, as conferred by article V, section 15, Florida Constitution. The first alternative is the traditional grievance committee-referee process in which an attorney is prosecuted by The Florida Bar under the direction of the Board of Governors. Under this procedure, sanctions are imposed by the Supreme Court after the Court

considers the referee's recommendations. See Fla.Bar.Integr. Rule, art. XI, Rules 11.02-11.13. The second alternative is a procedure initiated by the judiciary with the state attorney prosecuting. Judgment is entered by the trial court and is subject to review by the Supreme Court. See Fla.Bar.Integr.Rule, art. XI, Rule The third alternative is 11.14. the exercise of the inherent power of the courts to impose contempt sanctions on attorneys for lesser infractions, a procedure which this Court expressly approved in Shelley v. District Court of Appeal, 350 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1977). We stated in Shelley:

[T]he imposition of a summary contempt sanction is a proper and necessary disciplinary tool to aid a judicial tribunal in carrying out its necessary court functions.... The contempt power is a proper and historical alternative to existing formal disciplinary proceedings. The Integration Rule of The Florida Bar, Article XI, Rule 11.14, providing for disciplinary proceedings in circuit courts, is no bar to the use of this summary power in cases of lesser infractions of the various rules governing the practice of law which affect the necessary operations of a Id. at 472-73 (emphasis court. by the court).

The utilization of these alternate methods of disciplining attorneys is not necessarily mutually exclusive.

Thus, while the District Courts of Appeal have the authority to hold attorneys in contempt, Shelley v. District Court of Appeal,

350 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1977), or issue public reprimands, Mitchell v. State, 433 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Ferrer v. State, 434 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), such action by the Court does not preclude the filing of formal disciplinary proceedings by the Florida Bar through the traditional grievance committee-referee process or by the Court through the use of Rule 11.14. Id.

The only limitation with respect to the election of what forum in which disciplinary proceeding should be instituted is contained in Rule 11.14 itself. Subsection (1) of the Rule provides:

(1) Disciplinary matters in district courts of appeal, circuit courts and county courts. Whenever it shall be made known to any judge of a district court of appeal, a circuit court, or a county court in this state that a member of The Florida Bar practicing in any of the courts of his district, judicial circuit, or county has been guilty of any unprofessional act as defined by this Integration Rule or the Code of Professional Responsibility adopted by this Court, such judge may direct the state attorney for the circuit in which such attorney shall have his office to make in writing a motion in the circuit court in the name of the State of Florida to discipline such attorney setting forth in the motion the particular act or acts of conduct for which the attorney is sought to be disciplined.

Subsection (7) states:

(7) Concurrent jurisdiction of The Florida Bar. The jurisdiction of the district courts of appeal and circuit courts created by this rule and the procedure herein outlined shall be concurrent with that of The Florida Bar under the preceding portions of these Rules of Discipline. The forum first asserting jurisdiction in a disciplinary matter shall retain the same to the exclusion of the other until the final determination of the cause.

Under these Rules, the judges of the District Courts of Appeal and the judges of the Circuit Courts have concurrent jurisdiction with the Florida Bar in disciplinary matters. The Florida Bar v. Tannenbaum, 240 So.2d 302 (Fla. 1970). Accordingly, it is apodictic that the mere fact that the District Court of Appeal declined to reprimand the Respondent or to, itself, refer the matter to the State Attorney cannot act as a bar to Judge Gordon invoking the provisions of Rule 11.14. Ample grounds existed for Judge Gordon to take the action he did in referring this matter to the State Attorney and Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was properly denied on this ground.

The Motion to Dismiss based upon vague allegations of a denial of procedural due process (A. 7-9) was also properly denied. The Motion to Discipline the Respondent was extremely specific as to what conduct and specific statements made by the Respondent in his pleadings formed the basis for the charged violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility (A. 1-5).

The making of false accusations far less reprehensible than those made by the Respondent in this case have been held to be prejudicial to the administration of justice and violative of D.R. 1-102(5). See e.g. The Florida Bar v. Saphirstein, 376 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1979); The Florida Bar v. Weinberger, 397 So.2d 661 (Fla. 1981). This Respondent certainly cannot claim that he was not put on notice as to what charges had been lodged against him and why.

MOTION TO STRIKE/MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Petitioner will address the Respondent's contentions with regard to these two motions together and submits that the lower court quite properly denied them.

First, Petitioner submits that Judge Vann correctly recognized that this proceeding had not been instituted pursuant to Fla.Bar.Integr.R. Art. XI, Rule 11.06 (hereinafter referred to simply as Rule 11.06), but was brought under Rule 11.14, and that this latter provision did not provide that the Rules of Civil Procedure should apply (T. 10). Rule 11.14 provides only that the State Attorney must institute proceedings by filing a motion in the Circuit Court and that the accused attorney must file an answer within ten (10) days. Rule 11.14(1) & (2). The case then proceeds to trial before a designated circuit Judge. Rule 11.14(3). Judge Vann properly followed this procedure in this case.

Moreover, even if Respondent were correct in his assertion that the procedural provisions of Rule 11.06 should

apply, his motions still, properly were denied. Rule 11.06(3)(a) states as follows:

A disciplinary proceeding is neither civil nor criminal but is a quasi-judicial administrative proceeding. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply except as otherwise provided in the Integration Rule.

Rules 11.06(5)(b)(c) and (d) specifically enumerate what motions and other pleadings may be filed by a Respondent and the manner of their disposition:

- (b) Answer and motion. Respondent may answer the complaint and, as part thereof or by separate motion, may challenge only the sufficiency of the complaint, the jurisdiction of the forum, and the issue of confidentiality as provided in (d) below. All other defenses shall be incorporated in respondent's answer. All pleadings of the respondent must be filed within 20 days of service of a copy of the complaint upon him.
- (c) Reply. If respondent's answer shall contain any new matter or affirmative defense, a reply thereto may be filed within 10 days of the date of service of a copy upon bar counsel, but failure to file such a reply shall not prejudice The Florida Bar. All affirmative allegations in the respondent's answer shall be considered as denied by The Florida Bar.
- (d) <u>Disposition of motions</u>.

 <u>Hearings upon motions may be</u>
 <u>deferred until the final hearing</u>;
 and, whenever heard, rulings thereon

may be reserved until termination of the final hearing, but a motion to maintain confidential status for the protection of a client which is filed within 20 days after the service of the complaint on the respondent shall be decided before trial and the proceedings shall remain confidential until an order is issued on the motion.

It is apparent that motions to strike and motions for summary judgment are specifically precluded by the above-quoted provisions and that all defenses which the Respondent sought to raise by these motions could <u>only</u> be asserted in his answer. Therefore, these motions properly were denied.

Finally, the above-quoted Rule also explicitly provides that the failure to reply to affirmative defenses shall not prejudice the moving party and that all affirmative defenses shall be considered as denied. Moreover, the referee is specifically authorized to defer hearing upon any motions filed until the final hearing. Under these provisions, assuming that they should be held applicable to a Rule 11.14 disciplinary proceeding, the State Attorney was not required to traverse or oppose either of the Respondent's motions, and it was not necessary for the State Attorney to file counter affidavits. Finally, the trial judge was eminently correct in electing to proceed to a final hearing at which all issues could be resolved.

MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

There is no constitutional right to discovery.

Perry v. State, 395 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1980). Here the lower court

correctly ascertained that Rule 11.14 did not provide the Respondent with the right of discovery (T. 12-13).

Moreover, even if the Respondent was correct in his assertion that the discovery provision of Rule 11.06(3)(b) should be read into Rule 11.14, he still cannot show any abuse of discretion by Judge Vann. As pointed out earlier, there is and can be no dispute that the respondent made accusations of political corruption against Judge Gordon in his pleadings filed in the Third District Court of Appeal, and that, at the time these accusations were made, the Respondent had no factual basis for believing them to be true.

At the pretrial hearing in this case, Special Assistant State Attorney Norman Schwarz advised Judge Vann and the Respondent that the case had been filed at the direction of Judge Gordon (T. 28) and apprised the Court and Respondent as to what evidence he intended to introduce at trial (T. 28-30) and what witnesses he intended to call (T. 37-38). Thus, the Respondent was, in effect, given the discovery he demanded in paragraphs 1 through 6 and 8 through 12 of his demand for discovery (A. 22-24). With regard to the remainder of his demand, suffice to say that Judge Vann correctly ascertained the nature of these proceedings:

It appears to me there's just a question of what was said orally and what was written; and I think that's all I'm -- my assignment is: to see whether or not these statements that were made were made and if the things that were set forth in pleadings were so.

(T. 33)

Judge Vann perceptively concluded that what the Respondent was demanding -- lists of political contributors to Janet Reno and Jon Gordon, of "money, services or endorsements" of Janet Reno and Jon Gordon, and of court appointments of Paul Fletcher and Norman Schwarz -- were all irrelevant to the narrow issues he was appointed to hear (T. 24-25). In truth, the additional discovery sought by Respondent was calculated only to vex and harass the parties and the Court and was properly denied.

Lastly, it must be noted that the Respondent has not even alleged, much less cited to any portion of this record to show, how the trial judge's ruling could conceivably have prejudiced his ability to prepare a defense. As pointed out earlier, it is undisputed that he made the accusations against Judge Gordon in his pleadings and it is undisputed that, at the time he filed the pleadings, he knew these accusations were false or, at the very least, had no factual basis for believing them to be true. Even if he had gotten the additional discovery he requested, this would not have provided any defense. In fact, the testimony presented at the hearing conclusively established the actual falsity of his accusations. Accordingly, Respondent has not even come close to demonstrating a legally cognizible basis to reverse the judgment of the lower court.

JURY TRIAL

Respondent cites no authority in support of his argument that he was entitled to a jury trial. No such authority exists under the Integration Rules promulgated by this Court.

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S JUDGMENT FINDING THE RESPONDENT/APPELLANT GUILTY OF A VIOLATION OF THE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY IS AMPLY SUPPORTED BY OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE.

In its statement of the case and facts, the Petitioner has related the acrimoneous and libellous accusations which were directed at Judge Gordon, by the Respondent David Cerf, Jr., in paragraphs ten and eleven of his December 23, 1982 Petition for Rehearing (A. 50), in his January 12, 1983 Response (A. 60-62), and in his January 25, 1983 Petition for Rehearing (A. 80), and there is no need to repeat them here. Suffice to say, without any factual basis for believing his charges to be true (T. 126, 389, 393, 444), the Respondent made wild and unsubstantiated claims that Judge Gordon had appointed Paul Fletcher Guardian ad Litem in the Vetterick matter for the sole reason of giving "one of his cronies a political appointment" (A.50), that the \$1,000 fee for the Guardian ad Litem was set by Judge Gordon in order to extort an indirect political contribution from the litigants in the case (A. 60-62), and that the litigants were being forced to pay this fee because they were not rich and, therefore, were "unable to bribe a judge or make a maximum political contribution to his campaign" (A.80). Furthermore, the Respondent threatened to take his vicious and scurrilous charges to the press (A. 60-62). If an attorney has <u>evidence</u> that a judge has engaged in acts which are violative of the State or Federal criminal laws or the Code of Judicial Conduct, then it is his responsibility, even his sacred duty, to present his evidence to the proper prosecuting authority and/or the Judicial Qualifications

Commission. However, when a lawyer who has no such evidence elects to make absolutely false charges of political corruption against a Circuit Court Judge in his pleadings, this amounts to a grievous violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

As this Court stated in <u>State ex rel the Florida Bar v. Calhoun</u>, 102 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1958) at 608:

The conclusion which we here reach takes cognizance of the proposition that a judge as a public official is neither sacrosanct nor immune to public criticism of his conduct in office. However, the administration of the judicial process as an institution of government is a sacred proceeding. Webster suggested that "Justice is the greatest interest of man." Washington himself while laboring as an architect of our governmental structure laid out the specification that "The administration of justice is the firmest pillar of government." This concept could be supported by corroborating evidence that has accumulated over the years.

Admitting, therefore, the human weakness of judges as individuals but affirming our belief in the essentiality of the chastity of the goddess of justice we are impelled to the inescapable notion that any conduct of a lawyer which brings into scorn and disrepute the administration of

justice demands condemnation and the application of appropriate penalties.

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